

Subject benchmark statement

Art and design

2008

QAA 238 03/08

The Quality Assurance Agency for Higher Education Southgate House Southgate Street Gloucester GL1 1UB

Tel 01452 557000 Fax 01452 557070 Email comms@qaa.ac.uk Web www.qaa.ac.uk

© The Quality Assurance Agency for Higher Education 2008

ISBN 978 1 84482 809 8

All QAA's publications are available on our website www.qaa.ac.uk

Printed copies of current publications are available from: Linney Direct

Adamsway Mansfield

NG18 4FN

Tel 01623 450788 Fax 01623 450481

Email qaa@linneydirect.com

Registered charity numbers 1062746 and SC037786

Contents

Preface	iii
Joint foreword	v
Introduction	1
Defining principles	3
Nature and extent of art and design	4
Subject knowledge and understanding, attributes and skills: typical standard of achievement	7
Teaching, learning and assessment	9
Benchmark standards: threshold level of achievement	11
Appendix A: Consultation groups	13
Appendix B: Membership of the review group for the subject benchmark statement for art and design	14
Appendix C: Membership of the original benchmarking group for art and design	15

Preface

Subject benchmark statements provide a means for the academic community to describe the nature and characteristics of programmes in a specific subject or subject area. They also represent general expectations about standards for the award of qualifications at a given level in terms of the attributes and capabilities that those possessing qualifications should have demonstrated.

This subject benchmark statement, together with others published concurrently, refers to the **bachelor's degree with honours**¹. In addition, some subject benchmark statements provide guidance on integrated master's awards.

Subject benchmark statements are used for a variety of purposes. Primarily, they are an important external source of reference for higher education institutions (HEIs) when new programmes are being designed and developed in a subject area. They provide general guidance for articulating the learning outcomes associated with the programme but are not a specification of a detailed curriculum in the subject.

Subject benchmark statements also provide support to HEIs in pursuit of internal quality assurance. They enable the learning outcomes specified for a particular programme to be reviewed and evaluated against agreed general expectations about standards. Subject benchmark statements allow for flexibility and innovation in programme design and can stimulate academic discussion and debate upon the content of new and existing programmes within an agreed overall framework. Their use in supporting programme design, delivery and review within HEIs is supportive of moves towards an emphasis on institutional responsibility for standards and quality.

Subject benchmark statements may also be of interest to prospective students and employers, seeking information about the nature and standards of awards in a given subject or subject area.

The relationship between the standards set out in this document and those produced by professional, statutory or regulatory bodies for individual disciplines will be a matter for individual HEIs to consider in detail.

This subject benchmark statement represents a revised version of the original published in 2002. The review process was overseen by the Quality Assurance Agency for Higher Education (QAA) as part of a periodic review of all subject benchmark statements published in this year. The review and subsequent revision of the subject benchmark statement was undertaken by a group of subject specialists drawn from, and acting on behalf of, the subject community. The revised subject benchmark statement went through a full consultation with the wider academic community and stakeholder groups.

QAA publishes and distributes this subject benchmark statement and other subject benchmark statements developed by similar subject-specific groups.

¹ This is equivalent to the honours degree in the *Scottish Credit and Qualifications Framework* (level 10) and in the *Credit and Qualifications Framework for Wales* (level 6).

The Disability Equality Duty (DED) came into force on 4 December 2006². The DED requires public authorities, including HEIs, to act proactively on disability equality issues. The Duty complements the individual rights focus of the *Disability Discrimination Act* and is aimed at improving public services and outcomes for disabled people as a whole. Responsibility for making sure that such duty is met lies with HEIs.

The Equality and Human Rights Commission³ has published guidance⁴ to help HEIs prepare for the implementation of the Duty and provided illustrative examples on how to take the Duty forward. HEIs are encouraged to read this guidance when considering their approach to engaging with components of the Academic Infrastructure⁵, of which subject benchmark statements are a part.

Additional information that may assist HEIs when engaging with subject benchmark statements can be found in the *Code of Practice (revised) for providers of post-16 education and related services*⁶, and also through the Equality Challenge Unit⁷ which is established to promote equality and diversity in higher education.

² In England, Scotland and Wales.

³ On 1 October 2007, the Equal Opportunities Commission, the Commission for Racial Equality and the Disability Rights Commission merged into the new Equality and Human Rights Commission.

⁴ Copies of the guidance Further and higher education institutions and the Disability Equality Duty, Guidance for Principals, Vice-Chancellors, governing boards and senior managers working in further and higher education institutions in England, Scotland and Wales, may be obtained from www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/forbusinessesandorganisation/publicauthorities/disabilityequalityd/pages/disabilitye.aspx

⁵ An explanation of the Academic Infrastructure, and the roles of subject benchmark statements within it, is available at www.qaa.ac.uk/academicinfrastructure

⁶ Copies of the Code of Practice (revised) for providers of post-16 education and related services, published by the Disability Rights Commission, may be obtained from www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/publications andresources/Disability/Pages/Education.aspx

⁷ Equality Challenge Unit, www.ecu.ac.uk

Joint foreword

The subject benchmark statements for art and design and for the history of art, architecture and design have been subject to minor revisions.

Both statements continue to be separate and self-contained, modified by the two groups established to undertake those revisions. The review groups renewed the contact and the spirit of reciprocity that accompanied the writing of the original statements, and they ensured that the statements not only remained complementary, but also that the relationship between them was enhanced.

The two subjects have their own histories yet are mutually interdependent. Each subject benchmark statement will interact with a number of other statements, as explained in the respective sections dealing with the nature and scope of the subjects, but the strength of the relationship between the two subjects makes it only right that they should continue to be published in tandem.

Both subjects share a fundamental concern with creative practice. For art and design, primacy is given to the preparation of students for professional, creative practice. For the history of art, architecture and design, the main concerns are with the historical and cultural role of artefacts, their production and consumption. Although the approaches may differ, and the emphases fall in differing places, the concern with visual, material, performative and other forms of cultural practice is central to both subjects. It is important that students in art and design disciplines study the works of other practitioners past and present to locate their practice in an evolving historical context, just as it is important for the history of art, architecture and design students to gain insight into the processes and practices that result in the artefacts, buildings, environments and other objects of study.

In practical terms, the history of art, architecture and design provides supporting study to art and design, including the development of some key skills, and this supporting study has become embedded in creative practice. Staff from each subject will regularly enhance the other's discipline in multifarious ways and achieve mutual benefit in so doing. The two statements do embody fundamental differences and principles as reflected in the nature of subject knowledge, skills, and methods of teaching, learning and assessment. However, student research, nuanced according to the subject and focused on the artefact, is an important element common to both subjects.

So the history of art, architecture and design may be studied as a component of an art and design award; it may be taught and assessed as a separate subject or in combination with many other subjects; it may be a discrete element of the art and design curriculum; or it may be fully integrated with the main practice-based components. Whatever form the relationship takes, the links between the two subjects have been and continue to be strong and productive.

Neither of the two subject benchmark statements prescribe the content of the curriculum, nor the form of delivery in which the connections between the objects are made manifest. Each leaves it to be determined at the level of the institution and the individual programme. When compiling, reviewing or enhancing programme specifications, some course teams will find it sufficient to refer only to one of the statements, while for other teams it will be entirely appropriate to refer to all or

parts of both, for example in joint and combined honours. Whatever the balance of use might be, the respect that each subject community has for the other, and the sense of commonality across the subjects is something we hope to have kept in the foreground when revisiting the subject benchmark statements and we are grateful for the comments made and support offered by those communities in this exercise.

Professor Gordon Kennedy
Nottingham Trent University (for art and design)
and
Professor Evelyn Welch
Queen Mary, University of London (for the history of art, architecture and design)

June 2007

1 Introduction

- 1.1 This subject benchmark statement has been subject to minor revision. It continues to recognise the richness and diversity of art and design higher education (HE) and the important and substantial contribution that graduates in this subject make to the creative and cultural industries, commerce, culture and society. Its revision has been conducted in consultation with the review group for the subject benchmark statement for the history of art, architecture and design.
- 1.2 The original benchmark statement for art and design was always recognised as a robust, comprehensive document and the decision to propose only minor revisions turned out to be vindicated in practice.
- 1.3 References and statistics that dated the statement to the time when it was first authored have been removed. The review group have tried to avoid making contemporary references that might soon date this revised statement. Material that has been deemed to be less crucial than it was originally has also removed. This includes some of the earlier history of the subject and part of the argument for the subject's contribution to the creative industries and to different forms of entrepreneurial activity, which is now widely accepted. In addition, a statement of the threshold level of achievement was added.
- 1.4 In reflecting a more established, confident and mature sector, the review group has also added material that acknowledges the wider responsibility of the subject towards social well-being and concern for the environment.
- 1.5 Art and design has grown significantly and achieved greater prominence in United Kingdom (UK) HE in the time since the original statement was written. The hope is that, through these minor revisions, a sense of the continuity, growth and the responsive development of the subject has been conveyed.
- 1.6 This subject benchmark statement addresses undergraduate provision where art and design is the sole or major component of the final award. Currently, the term 'art and design' is used both within and outside education to embrace a wide and diverse range of disciplines that are cognate with one another to varying degrees (see section 3). For the purpose of clarity in this statement, art and design is referred to as the 'subject', while the distinct areas of activity within the subject are referred to as 'disciplines'. These disciplines are in a state of continuous and dynamic evolution a characteristic shared with the creative industries and visual cultures with which they have clear and fundamental ties. This breadth and diversity has demanded benchmark standards that accommodate the wide and evolving spectrum of provision.
- 1.7 The objective remains to provide a benchmark statement that provides HEIs with the flexibility to place greater or less emphasis upon specific aspects within the overall expectations. This statement is deliberately couched in ways that permit interpretation in curricular terms at the local level of the specific discipline, thus allowing HEIs to update and innovate in terms of programme design, content, delivery and assessment.

- 1.8 The art and design sector has made a significant contribution to the HE agenda in the UK and is a valued member of the HE community. HE programmes in art and design are currently provided by a range of institutions which include universities, institutes and colleges of HE, specialist schools, colleges and institutes of art and design, and colleges of further education in partnership with HEIs with degree awarding powers. A large proportion of students in England, Wales and Northern Ireland still continue to undertake a preparatory art and design course before progressing to the HE programme of their choice. In Scotland, the four-year degrees incorporate this experience. Other forms of access also exist through, for example, application direct from secondary education, access programmes and accreditation of prior learning. The art and design sector has helped to widen access in UK HE for many years and is committed to developing inclusive approaches to student recruitment within the subject.
- 1.9 The undergraduate's learning experience varies according to which art or design discipline(s), and in which institution, they have chosen to study. Typically, programmes in art and design emphasise imagination, creativity and, where appropriate, craft skills, and are designed to develop students' intellectual powers and their ability to communicate. The student experience embraces both subject-specific and generic knowledge and understanding, attributes and skills (see section 4). Learning in art and design stimulates the development of an enquiring, analytical and creative approach, and develops entrepreneurial capabilities. It also encourages the acquisition of independent judgement and critical self-awareness. Most students work in studio environments supported by a wide range of workshops and other dedicated facilities. Commencing with the acquisition of an understanding of underlying principles and appropriate skills, students normally pursue a programme of staged development progressing to increasingly independent and personally-focused learning.
- 1.10 New approaches to learning and to the form of the learning environment have been developed, both in response to the increased levels of participation in HE, and to developments in teaching, learning and assessment in HE. Independent and peer group learning are considered to be valuable components of the student experience in these environments. These developments have also been driven by the changing nature of the disciplines and the advent of new disciplines that are creating alternative synergies and modes of practice.
- 1.11 The study of art and design as an academic and intellectual pursuit develops a range of cognitive abilities related to the aesthetic, the moral, ethical and social contexts of human experience. The capacity to visualise the world from different perspectives is not only intrinsically worthwhile as a personal life skill, but is also an essential part of the human condition. The engagement in the study of art and design is therefore a commitment to improving the quality of one's own and others' cultural experiences. The manifestation of these essential human capacities has always been through the production of artefacts, often for cultural consumption. Thus the study of art and design has always provided a vocational outlet for creative endeavour. In a world that is becoming culturally more sophisticated and requires greater innovation and challenge, the cognitive abilities and practical skills of artists and designers are in increasing demand.

1.12 The creative and cultural industries sector continues to expand at a fast rate. Increasing demand for visual communication, rapid developments in technology, expanding public interests in the visual arts and media, and a growing awareness of what creativity and innovation can bring to many different industrial, commercial and service sectors, all contribute to the demand for education in the subject. Graduates in art and design disciplines have demonstrated that they are equipped with the appropriate skills and abilities to operate effectively in the marketplace. In particular, they display resourcefulness, entrepreneurial skills, and the capacity to establish new and innovative enterprises. Many are active as independent creative artists, designers or designer/makers, while some work in other fields where their attributes and skills are increasingly acknowledged, needed and valued as having wider application.

2 Defining principles

- 2.1 Art and design is the term widely used to embrace a complex, diverse and evolving constituency of disciplines which share important conceptual characteristics but which are differentiated in significant respects. While it is the very nature of this difference which contributes to its richness as an area of study and practice, the different disciplines share numerous defining qualities. Yet, through modern media and the rapid technological development, the boundaries between the disciplines continue to become more diffuse.
- 2.2 Learning in art and design develops:
- the capacity to be creative
- an aesthetic sensibility
- intellectual enquiry
- skills in team working
- an appreciation of diversity
- the ability to conduct research in a variety of modes
- the quality of reflecting on one's own learning and development
- the capacity to work independently, determining one's own future learning needs.
- 2.3 The outcomes of engagement with these characteristics are equally varied in art and in design, but both require the development of particular cognitive attributes. The role of imagination in the creative process is essential in developing the capacities to observe and visualise, in the identifying and solving of problems, and in the making of critical and reflective judgements. While convergent forms of thinking, which involve rational and analytical skills, are developed in art and design, they are not the only conceptual skills within the repertoire employed by artists and designers. More divergent forms of thinking, which involve generating alternatives, and in which the notion of being 'correct' gives way to broader issues of value, are characteristic of the creative process.

- 2.4 The outcomes of the study and practice of art and design in HE contribute to both the cultural development and the economic well-being of the individual and of society. In both cases, an understanding of the context of the practice is essential. In the former, it enhances their intellect through critical awareness and by locating the individual in an historical continuum. In the latter, it provides knowledge of how an individual's practice relates to that of others which is the cornerstone of originality and personal expression. Without such knowledge, an individual would not have any sense of the nature of their own creativity or the culture in which it is set. Students also understand the broad vocational context within which their study sits and the range of professional practices that inform it, such as anticipating and responding to change; knowledge and application of business systems; presentation; distribution and dissemination of work; skills in entrepreneurialism and social enterprise; and client/audience negotiation skills.
- 2.5 In learning about the contextual setting of their discipline(s), students also engage with appropriate various related theories within global, historical, contemporary and cultural settings which inform that context and add purpose to their activity. As a consequence, students develop and may challenge their own critical disposition in relation to their discipline(s) and even the conventions of the discipline themselves.
- 2.6 Experiential, activity and enquiry-based learning are features of the art and design curriculum in HE. Through this approach, students have been encouraged to develop both the capacity for independent learning and the ability to work with others. Students not only develop the ability to solve set problems in a creative way, but they also develop the ability to identify and redefine problems, and to raise and address appropriate issues.
- 2.7 The outcomes of art and design practice almost always combine the conceptual, theoretical and the practical. Along with the development of their cognitive attributes when learning, students produce outcomes that require the application of practical skills. Some of these skills may be appropriate only to specific contexts, whereas others have a generic or transferable applicability, often within a professional context.
- 2.8 Both artists and designers produce their work mindful of an audience and/or professional need. The principal forms of communication in these settings involve aesthetics and functionality through which visual presentation skills are developed. Students also develop verbal and written communication skills as a result of interaction with their peers and tutors, both formally and informally. They use a variety of written forms to articulate and synthesise their knowledge and understanding.

3 Nature and extent of art and design

3.1 Art and design is a subject that embraces an overlapping and changing community of many disciplines. It also engages with many other subjects, including media and communications; the performing arts; the built environment; information technology and computing; engineering; business; and, notably, the history of art, architecture and design. The nomenclature of disciplines changes and discipline content may change within conventional nomenclature. The boundaries of art and design have become increasingly blurred, and many disciplines within the subject have become generic and interdisciplinary but less singularly focused.

- 3.2 This erosion of traditional parameters, which were often based in part on differences in media and processes, has been fuelled by the significant impact of newer media and technologies that are increasingly common across disciplines, replacing some of the traditional discipline-specific skills with skills of a more generic nature. Art and design has to varying degrees responded to, assimilated, manipulated and appropriated the creative potential of many of these technologies as they have emerged, prompting the advent of new disciplines a process which can be expected to continue in tandem with further technological innovation.
- 3.3 Among the common characteristics shared by the broad range of disciplines in art and design are the conception, production, promotion and dissemination of the outcomes that constitute our visual culture. These encompass artefacts intended for intellectual and aesthetic contemplation to functional products, systems and services. The processes from conception to dissemination employ a range of predominantly visual languages to articulate concepts and ideas in two and three dimensions, while in some disciplines the time dimension, narrative, sound and interactivity are of equal importance. These are combined with the exercise of creative skills, imagination, vision and innovation.
- 3.4 In the education of artists and designers, the constituent disciplines traditionally emphasise the development of visual literacy. Drawing ability is regarded as a prerequisite skill for observation, recording, analysis, speculation, development, visualisation, evaluation and communication. Considerable importance is attached to the acquisition of technical skills in the use of discipline-specific materials and processes. The majority of students pursue broad-based study in art and design prior to more specialist undergraduate study. Some disciplines require a broad knowledge and understanding of aspects of art and design but do not require so much practice in conventional drawing or manipulation of materials and processes traditionally associated with the more popular disciplines. Such disciplines include conservation and restoration; arts, museum and gallery management and administration; curation; design management; and publishing. Other disciplines and combinations of disciplines explicitly prepare students for portfolio careers, emphasising the need for mutability in evolving, creative communities.
- 3.5 Most programmes attach great importance to students' acquisition of knowledge and understanding of the historical developments of their disciplines. Institutions employ a range of ways to impart historical, theoretical and critical dimensions of their disciplines and to make such dimensions integral to and manifest in student work: common to this range is an emphasis on the essential need to conduct research in all discipline activities.
- 3.6 Many art and design programmes have also broadened their curriculum by the inclusion of, for example, ecological and sustainable enterprise, business, marketing, modern languages and other professional contextualising subjects. Most disciplines within art and design have been identified as major contributors to the creative industries, and this has led to national recognition of the wealth-creating and culture-enhancing achievements of art and design. Increasingly, graduates in art and design disciplines are finding employment in areas unrelated to the subject but which value and actively seek their creative abilities and skills.

- 3.7 The art and design community acknowledges the commonalities between the disciplines which comprise the subject. These include features such as practice located in and informed by current critical debate; a shared reliance on curiosity, imagination and empathy; and a creative and speculative approach to the manipulation of ideas, materials, methods and processes. Yet, the separate practices of art and design embody characteristics that are distinct to each.
- 3.8 The practice of art is a creative endeavour that constantly speculates upon and challenges its own nature and purpose and which demands high levels of self-motivation, intellectual curiosity, speculative enquiry, imagination, and divergent thinking skills. Students learn to recognise the interactive relationship between materials, media and processes, between ideas and issues, and between producer, mediator and audience. Similarly, contemporary art practice demands the ability on the part of the artist to position the individual's practice within an appropriate critical discourse and contextual framework.
- 3.9 Many graduates continue their practice as artists, and support this through the sale of their work, commissions, grants and residencies, and/or other employment. Most find an application for their learning through, for example, teaching, community arts work, curating, arts management and administration, or within other areas of the creative industries including advertising, film and video production, software design, or as a self-employed artist or designer/maker.
- 3.10 Designers address practical and theoretical concerns through a broad spectrum of two-dimensional, three-dimensional and time-based media, materials and processes. Design is an activity of creative reasoning that is dependent upon flexibility of ideas and methodologies informed by an awareness of current critical debates. It ranges between the expressive and the functional and can be, for example, stylistically driven or socially motivated or mediated. It is also an iterative process based upon evaluation and modification. Design is reliant upon constantly evolving dialogue and negotiation between the designer (working individually or within teams as proactive collaborator/mediator) and the client, manufacturer, audience, user, customer, participant or recipient.
- 3.11 At its core, design involves both analysis and synthesis, and is frequently solution-focused, culminating in the creation of design outcomes as prototypes, models or proposals. It is equally concerned with all aspects of material culture across a wide range of interrelated sub-disciplines. There is no single definition or methodological approach to the discipline, and there are no limitations in terms of interdisciplinary relationships. Design covers all aspects of decision-making in relation to the aesthetic, operational, user, market, production and/or manufacturing characteristics of artefacts and systems. The increasing diversity of design education is reflected in a similarly wide variety of careers that graduates pursue in contexts which vary from research to education, management, the media, and the creative and cultural industries.
- 3.12 Within art and design, there are a number of significant disciplines which employ the practices and methodologies of both art and design. One important group of these disciplines variously known as craft, applied arts, decorative arts or designer/makers includes ceramics, glass, jewellery, metalwork, furniture and textiles. Other major disciplines which can embody characteristics of either or both art and design include photography, film, media production, illustration and animation.

4 Subject knowledge and understanding, attributes and skills: typical standard of achievement

- 4.1 The principal aim of undergraduate education in art and design is to facilitate acquisition of appropriate knowledge and understanding, development of the necessary personal attributes, and application of the essential skills which will equip and prepare students for continuing personal development and professional practice.
- 4.2 The emphasis given to the following learning outcomes will vary according to the main discipline(s) studied and the aims of the specific programme, while individual levels of achievement will be reflected in the classification of the award. At the typical level of achievement, students graduating with an honours degree in art and design should be able to:
- articulate and synthesise their knowledge and understanding, attributes and skills in effective ways in the contexts of creative practice, employment, further study, research and self-fulfilment
- apply, consolidate and extend their learning in different contextual frameworks and situations, both within and beyond the field of art and design.

Subject-specific knowledge and understanding, attributes and skills

- 4.3 These are considered to be fundamental to the study and practice of the student's chosen discipline(s). Many are also potentially transferable to other contexts. At the typical level of achievement, these will be evidenced in a body of work which demonstrates the graduate's ability to:
- generate ideas, concepts, proposals, solutions or arguments independently and/or collaboratively in response to set briefs and/or as self-initiated activity
- employ both convergent and divergent thinking in the processes of observation, investigation, speculative enquiry, visualisation and/or making
- select, test and make appropriate use of materials, processes and environments
- develop ideas through to outcomes, for example images, artefacts, environments, products, systems and processes, or texts
- manage and make appropriate use of the interaction between intention, process, outcome, context, and the methods of dissemination
- be resourceful and entrepreneurial.
- 4.4 Graduates in art and design will have developed skills in communication and expression through visual and plastic forms and, typically, will be able to use visual languages to investigate, analyse, interpret, develop and articulate ideas and information. Their work will be informed by and will inform professional practice in their discipline(s), including:
- the critical, contextual, historical, conceptual and ethical dimensions of the student's discipline in particular, and art and design in general
- the artist's or designer's relationship with audiences, clients, markets, users, consumers, participants, co-workers and co-creators
- the implications and potential for their discipline(s) presented by the key developments in current and emerging media and technologies, and in interdisciplinary approaches to contemporary practice in art and design.

4.5 An honours degree in an art and design discipline also confirms that the holder has acquired relevant technical knowledge and practical skills, and will be able to employ materials, media, techniques, methods, technologies and tools associated with the discipline(s) studied with skill and imagination while observing good working practices, and professional/legal responsibilities relating to the subject.

Generic knowledge and understanding, attributes and skills

- 4.6 These are normally integrated into the subject curriculum but are neither specific nor unique to art and design. They have applications in a wide range of contexts. Typically, holders of an honours degree in an art and design discipline(s) will have demonstrated the following.
- **Self-management** students will have the ability to:
 - study independently, set goals, manage their own workloads and meet deadlines
 - anticipate and accommodate change, and work within contexts of ambiguity, uncertainty and unfamiliarity.
- **Critical engagement** students will have the ability to:
 - analyse information and experiences, formulate independent judgements, and articulate reasoned arguments through reflection, review and evaluation
 - source and research relevant material, assimilating and articulating relevant findings
 - formulate reasoned responses to the critical judgements of others
 - identify personal strengths and needs, and reflect on personal development.
- **Group/team working and social skills** students will have the ability to interact effectively with others, for example through collaboration, collective endeavour and negotiation.
- Skills in communication and presentation students be able to:
 - articulate ideas and information comprehensibly in visual, oral and written forms
 - present ideas and work to audiences in a range of situations
 - use the views of others in the development or enhancement of their work.
- Information skills students will have the ability to:
 - source, navigate, select, retrieve, evaluate, manipulate and manage information from a variety of sources
 - select and employ communication and information technologies.
- **Personal qualities** students will have an enthusiasm for enquiry into their discipline and the motivation to sustain it.

5 Teaching, learning and assessment

The teaching and learning environment of art and design

- 5.1 Art and design HE provision is characterised by the diversity of disciplines available to students (see section 3) and employs a wide range of approaches to teaching, learning and assessment based on an appropriate physical resource. Drawing upon well-established contacts with art and design-related industries in the UK and abroad, professional development is emphasised and practical studies are underpinned by business awareness. Curricula are directly informed and their currency maintained by the research, scholarly activity and professional practice of staff. Practising artists, designers and designer/makers make valuable contributions as part-time and visiting tutors, and facilitate important links to professional and creative practice. Students regularly practise their subject outside formal taught sessions and at such times require support from a range of staff: the contribution of technicians and library/learning resources staff in this context is highly important.
- 5.2 Access to high quality infrastructure and resources, whether in the learning environment or in suitable equivalent environments, is necessary to provide a challenging and professional locus which usefully mirrors the context of professional practice.

Curricula

- 5.3 Art and design curricula are designed to support individual development and creativity as artists, designers, communicators and craftsmakers, as well as the progressive acquisition of independent learning skills. Curricula also provide progression at each level, through the sequence of units or projects and by the articulation of appropriate learning outcomes. Core components, prerequisites and academic guidance may also contribute to programme coherence.
- 5.4 In most programmes, curricula are designed to encourage the development of intellectual maturity, curiosity, personal innovation, risk-taking, independent enquiry, and effective management and planning skills. Practice-based programmes also provide opportunities to develop technical skills and understanding, and the development of generic skills alongside students' subject-specific knowledge and skills. Theoretical, critical, historical and contextual elements of art and design are either integrated into practical projects or units, or are delivered through discrete but complementary units of study, which provide additional opportunities for the development of generic skills.
- 5.5 Art and design programmes encourage and prepare students to take increasing responsibility for the content and direction of their creative work, and require students to undertake significant and sustained periods of independent study. Typically, this takes the form of a major project presented in the latter stages of the programme.
- 5.6 Group projects engage art and design students in extending their creative abilities into the arena of collaboration and negotiation, employing interpersonal skills and working as members of teams, and developing their understanding of project management.

Teaching, learning and assessment methodologies

- 5.7 Studio-based activities are a significant feature of art and design education, providing loci for both individual and group tuition. Effective learning environments are engendered in studios, workshops, production units and computing units, with staff and students sharing experiences as partners in the process of learning. Distinctive features of the subject include, for example, the use of projects as a vehicle for learning, and the group critique, where students present and discuss their work with their peers and tutors. These, together with the individual tutorials, promote reflective learning and the development of generic skills. Other teaching and learning methodologies include team-teaching, demonstrations, seminars and lectures, and peer-learning. Live projects, competitions, work-related learning and student exchanges also provide vehicles for teaching and learning.
- 5.8 The development of students' independent learning skills is promoted through self-directed and self-initiated study, which may be formalised through individually-negotiated learning agreements. Such personal and professional development is typically expressed in a range of forms including reflective journals and personal development records.
- 5.9 Formative, summative and diagnostic assessment are regarded as positive learning tools and feedback from assessment offers students clear guidance with regard to future development. Assessment strategies support students' understanding of their learning processes and are designed to foster a deep approach to learning. Strategies also promote autonomous learning and self-evaluation as vital elements within the overall learning process. Self- and peer-evaluation constitute an important part of formative assessment and, on occasion, of the formal summative assessment process. Assessment criteria accommodate the speculative enquiry common to most disciplines in art and design, and provide fair and accurate assessment of team work and individual contributions to the overall outcome of collaborative projects.
- 5.10 Feedback on assessed work is an important feature of students' learning. Art and design has a strong tradition of providing students with comprehensive oral feedback through tutorials and critiques, but written feedback has increasingly supplemented this predominantly oral tradition, reflecting the art and design community's awareness of good practice in teaching, learning and assessment. Support systems at institutional and discipline levels identify student needs and provide relevant help and advice for both academic and pastoral matters. Research indicates that dyslexia is more prevalent amongst students of art and design than in other subjects, and most institutions have well-established support systems for this need.

6 Benchmark standards: threshold level of achievement

- 6.1 This section of the statement describes the learning outcomes that undergraduate education in art and design aims to facilitate. The best graduates will have accumulated a body of work that demonstrates excellence in most if not all areas of the acquisition of knowledge and understanding, development of personal attributes, and the acquisition of skills described in section 4. This section concentrates on the threshold standards, ie the minimum acceptable levels of achievement which students must demonstrate to be eligible for the award of an honours degree in an art and design discipline(s). The typical standard is described in section 4.
- 6.2 These threshold standards are intentionally phrased in broad terms to provide scope for the variations in emphasis and interpretation that individual programmes will rightly wish to place upon them according to the nature of the discipline and their institutional mission and context. The standards are articulated as learning outcomes which provide a reference point that will enable the providers of undergraduate education in art and design to continue to develop diverse and innovative programmes.

Subject-specific knowledge and understanding, attributes and skills

- 6.3 On graduating with an honours degree in art and design, students should be able to:
- present evidence that demonstrates some ability to generate ideas independently and/or collaboratively in response to set briefs and/or as self-initiated activity
- demonstrate proficiency in observation, investigation, enquiry, visualisation and/or making
- develop ideas through to outcomes that confirm the student's ability to select and use materials, processes and environments
- make connections between intention, process, outcome, context, and methods of dissemination.
- 6.4 At the threshold standard, a student's work will have been informed by aspects of professional practice in their discipline(s). This will be evidenced by some knowledge and understanding of:
- the broad critical and contextual dimensions of the student's discipline(s)
- the issues which arise from the artist's or designer's relationship with audiences, clients, markets, users, consumers, and/or participants
- major developments in current and emerging media and technologies in their discipline(s)
- the significance of the work of other practitioners in their discipline(s).

- 6.5 At the threshold standard, an honours degree in art and design confirms that the holder has acquired technical knowledge and practical skills. The student will be able to use materials, media, techniques, methods, technologies and tools associated with the discipline(s) studied, and will be familiar with good working practices.
- 6.6 On graduating with an honours degree in art and design at the threshold level, students will have demonstrated that they have some ability to:
- exercise self-management skills in managing their workloads and meeting deadlines
- accommodate change and uncertainty
- analyse information and experiences, and formulate reasoned arguments
- benefit from the critical judgements of others and recognise their personal strengths and needs
- apply interpersonal and social skills to interact with others
- communicate ideas and information in visual, oral and written forms
- present ideas and work to their audiences
- apply information skills to navigate, retrieve, and manage information from a variety of sources
- select and employ communication and information technologies.

Appendix A: Consultation groups

During the preparation of this subject benchmark statement for art and design, the review group consulted with the following organisations and projects.

- Art & Design: Empowering Part-time Tutors (a three-year project funded by the Higher Education Funding Council for England Fund for the Development of Teaching and Learning Phase 4 (FDTL4))
- Association of Fashion and Textile Courses
- Association of Photography in HE
- Council for Higher Education in Art and Design
- Design Education Association
- Design Research Society
- Group for Learning in Art and Design
- Life Work Art (FDTL4)
- Interiors Educators
- National Association for Fine Art Education
- National Association for Higher Education in the Moving Image
- National Association for Ceramics in Higher Education
- National Association of Jewellery and Silversmith Design Education
- The Subject Centre for Art, Design and Media
- Writing Purposefully in Art & Design (Writing PAD) (FDTL4)

Appendix B: Membership of the review group for the subject benchmark statement for art and design

Carolyn Bew The Higher Education Academy Subject Centre for

Art, Design and Media

Dr Cheryl Buckley Northumbria University and the Design History

Society

Professor David Buss University College for the Creative Arts at Epson,

Farnham, Rochester, Canterbury and Maidstone

David Butler Newcastle University and the Life, Work, Art

(project funded by the Higher Education Funding Council for England Fund for the Development of

Teaching and Learning Phase 4 (FDTL4))

Dr Linda Drew Chelsea College of Art and Design

Professor Judy Glasman University of Hertfordshire and the Art & Design:

Empowering Part-time Tutors (FDTL4)

Professor Gordon Kennedy (Chair) Nottingham Trent University

Dr Gerard Moran De Montfort University

Christoph Raatz Council for Higher Education in Art and Design

Brenda Sparkes Nottingham Trent University and the Association of

Fashion and Textile Courses

Andrew Stone London Metropolitan University and the

Interiors Educators

Professor Evelyn Welch Queen Mary, University of London and the

Association of Art Historians

Professor John Wood Goldsmiths College, University of London and the

Writing Purposefully in Art & Design (FDTL4)

Appendix C: Membership of the original benchmarking group for art and design

Details below appear as published in the original subject benchmark statement for art and design (2002).

Ms Glenda Brindle University of Central Lancashire

Professor David Buss (Chair) Kent Institute of Art and Design

Mr Tim Coward University of Wales Institute, Cardiff

Mr Allan Davies Centre for Learning and Teaching in Art and

Design, London Institute, Royal College of Art

and Wimbledon School of Art

Mr Anthony Dean The Central School of Speech and Drama,

London

Ms Linda Drew Learning and Teaching Support Network for

Art, Design and Communication,

University of Brighton

Mr David Henderson The Robert Gordon University

Professor Jamie Hobson Southampton Institute

Ms Jill Journeaux Coventry University

Professor Terence Kavanagh Loughborough University

Ms Joyce Palmer London Guildhall University

Ms Sue Tuckett Norwich School of Art and Design